RECEIVED

Mar 03 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County

Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF ANDY EUGENE HYMAN,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000734

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In this sexually violent predator (SVP) case, did the trial judge abuse his discretion by admitting evidence through the state's expert witness concerning Appellant's results from the penile plethysmograph (PPG) test he underwent as part of his precommitment evaluation since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702, SCRE, State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999), and Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010), and the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice in violation of Rule 403, SCRE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 16, 2020, the Attorney General filed a petition seeking to involuntarily commit Appellant pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA). R. 319-388. The trial commenced on June 7, 2021 before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson. R. 1. Assistant Attorney General Suzanne Shaw represented the state. R. 1. James Falk represented Appellant. R. 1.

On June 9, 2021, the jury found Appellant was a sexually violent predator under the SVPA. R. 291, l. 25 – 292, l. 11. Judge Henderson ordered Appellant be committed to the Department of Mental Health for long term control, care, and treatment. R. 393.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was convicted in 1997 of second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and lewd act. R. 107, l. 17 – 108, l. 6. He was sentenced to an indeterminate period of time not to exceed six years pursuant to the Youthful Offender Act for second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and fifteen years suspended upon the service of five years' probation for lewd act. R. 108, ll. 16-22. Subsequently, in 2016, Appellant was convicted of third degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 107, ll. 22-24. He was sentenced to ten years imprisonment. R. 109, ll. 1-9.

Before Appellant's anticipated release from the Department of Corrections in February 2021, the state filed a petition pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA) seeking to have Appellant involuntarily committed for long term control, care, and treatment. R. 319-388. Dr. Marie Gehle, the chief psychologist with the Department of Mental Health, was court appointed to evaluate Appellant. Dr. Gehle opined that Appellant did not meet the criteria to be committed as a sexually violent predator. R. 206, ll. 1-9. While she found Appellant had been convicted of sexually violent offenses and suffered from a mental abnormality, specifically pedophilic disorder, Dr. Gehle opined Appellant was not likely to engage in acts of sexual violence, as defined under the SVPA, if not confined. R. 190, l. 21 – 191, l. 2; R. 205, l. 16 – 206, l. 9. She determined Appellant's risk of reoffending "is the same as the average sex offender." R. 206, ll. 12-17.

The state sought a second opinion from the Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab of the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC). Dr. Emily Gottfried, the director of the lab, evaluated Appellant in February 2021 and opined Appellant met the criteria to be committed as a sexually violent predator. Like Dr. Gehle, Dr. Gottfried found Appellant had been convicted of

sexually violent offenses and suffered from a mental abnormality, also pedophilic disorder. R. 107, l. 17 – 109, l. 9; R. 121, ll. 11-19. However, it was her opinion that because of Appellant’s disorder, he is likely to reoffend and “poses a danger to public safety.” R. 143, l. 23 – 144, l. 13.

As part of her precommitment evaluation, Dr. Gottfried performed a penile plethysmograph (PPG) test on Appellant. In her testimony before the jury, Dr. Gottfried explained that the PPG “is an objective physiological measure of male sexual arousal.” R. 134, l. 24 – 135, l. 1. She maintained the test is “useful . . . because in these types of evaluations people have [a]n understandable motivation for not be[ing] very forthcoming about what they are currently sexually aroused by.” R. 135, ll. 2-6. She further contended that the PPG is “important . . . because the research suggests that having sexual interest in children *as measured by this test* is a strong predictor or risk factor for future sexual offending.” R. 135, ll. 6-9 (emphasis added).

Gottfried testified that as part of the PPG, Appellant was “administered two separate sets that had a number of trials.” When both sets were viewed together, Appellant “showed clinically significant arousal to scenarios featuring sexual violence against a prepubescent female child, coercion against a prepubescent female child, sexual violence against a pubescent or adolescent child in puberty, three scenarios featuring consensual sexual activity with an adult woman, two scenarios featuring coercion against a prepubescent female child, coercion against an adult man, coercion against an adult woman, two scenarios featuring persuasion against a prepubescent female child, and sexual activity with a male infant.” R. 138, ll. 1-18. She maintained Appellant’s “maximum arousal” during “the first set of trials” “was to a scenario featuring sexual violence against a prepubescent female child” and during the “second set of trials” “was to a scenario featuring coercion against a female prepubescent child.” R. 138, l. 19 – 139, l. 2.

Gottfried asserted these findings were consistent with Appellant's "actual offending history" given Appellant "offended against prepubescent female children." R. 139, ll. 3-5.

The assistant attorney general relied heavily on the PPG evidence during her closing argument to the jury. She went so far as to argue that Appellant's results from the PPG test were sufficient alone to find he should be committed for long term care, control, and treatment. R. 263, ll. 14-23. Specifically, she asserted:

In 1996, he [Appellant] molested three little girls. He was alleged to have and he was charged and he was convicted and he served his time. He started looking at child pornography immediately after he got out, despite having sex offender treatment in the community.

Until he could no longer control himself, in 2015 he molested three more little girls or was alleged to have happened. He was convicted of those offenses and sentenced to ten years. And now he's asking you to let him go back into the community after he has had no further sex offender treatment and after he [recidivated]. I would submit to you that based on that information alone without ***the PPG evidence, which clearly indicates that he has current sexual interest in children***, that information with or without the PPG, indicates that he is likely to reoffend.

But let's go into the PPG. What was he sexually excited by in those scenarios? He was sexually excited by coercive scenarios against prepubescent children. He was sexually excited by coercive scenarios against adults, both men and women. But he was also sexually excited about a scenario featuring an infant and a male. He got erections to all of those things. That was in February of this year. And ***I would submit to you that that, in and of itself, is enough to put him in a secured facility for long term care, control, and treatment.*** I would submit that [he] has, in fact, got an active interest in small children and if he's released to the community he is very, very, [likely] to reoffend. There's not a question of if this individual, it's the question of when. And I would submit that evidence in front of you, we have proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Hyman is, in fact, a sexually violent predator. We're asking you to commit him to Wellpath Facility for a long term treatment and we thank you.

R. 262, l. 24 – 264, l. 7 (emphasis added).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The standard of review for evidentiary rulings is very deferential.” Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 161, 851 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 2020), reh’g denied (Dec. 22, 2020). “The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the trial court’s sound discretion, and an appellate court may only disturb a ruling admitting or excluding evidence upon a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” Id. at 161-162, 851 S.E.2d at 444 (quoting State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262-263, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. at 162, 851 S.E.2d at 444 (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

ARGUMENT

In this sexually violent predator (SVP) case, the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting evidence through the state's expert witness concerning Appellant's results from the penile plethysmograph (PPG) test he underwent as part of his precommitment evaluation since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702, SCRE, *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999), and *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010), and the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice in violation of Rule 403, SCRE.

Relevant Facts

Appellant moved pretrial to prohibit Dr. Emily Gottfried, the state's sole witness, from testifying about the PPG test performed on Appellant as part of her precommitment evaluation pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE, *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), and Rule 403, SCRE. Appellant filed a motion on May 28, 2021, which contained his argument in support of excluding the PPG evidence. R. 295-299.

Appellant argued the PPG test is controversial and there is no evidence of its reliability. He cited to this Court's opinion in *Matter of Bilton*, 432 S.C. 157, 162, 851 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 2020), in which this Court recognized that courts have uniformly declared that PPG test results are inadmissible as evidence because there are no accepted standards for the test in the scientific community. R. 296. Appellant further argued there is no evidence that PPG testing conducted using the "Marshall and the Real Child Voices (RSV) audio and visual scenarios is reliable." R. 297. He concluded, "Absent peer-reviewed studies attesting to the reliability and

standardization of both these stimulus scenarios, the [trial judge] is left with no assurances that the results of [Appellant's] PPG test are reliable.” R. 297.

In support of his argument, Appellant cited to a 2015 article coauthored by Dr. William Burke, PhD, who played a substantial role in the development of the Real Child Voices stimulus set, and Dr. Gregg Dwyer, MD, EdD, who was formally associated with the Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab at the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC). R. 298-299. In the article, the authors wrote: “Wide variation exists concerning stimuli types, assessment protocol, and means of analyzing and interpreting phallometric results in forensic laboratories in North America. Concerns regarding the lack of standardization in phallometry across sites have been discussed since its creation, however, little improvement has been made. There are challenges in the implementation of standardization within jurisdictions and between countries.” R. 298-299 (citing Standardization of Penile Plethysmograph Testing in Assessment of Problematic Sexual Interests, Journal of Sexual Medicine 2015; 12:1853-1854).

In addition to being unreliable, Appellant argued the evidence concerning the PPG was “highly prejudicial.” He asserted, “This is the situation where the jury is gonna grab onto these results from the PPG test, I believe possibly to the exclusion of any other information and not listen to anything else and they’ll [commit] him [Appellant] based on the PPG test [alone].” R. 6, l. 6 – 7, l. 13. Appellant further maintained the probative value of the evidence was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. R. 8, ll. 1-7.

In support of his motion, Appellant proffered the testimony of Dr. Gehle. Dr. Gehle is a clinical psychologist with the Department of Mental Health. R. 10, ll. 15-17. She conducts precommitment evaluations pursuant to the SVPA. Throughout her career, she has conducted over two hundred evaluations. R. 10, ll. 18-24. Gehle explained that she does not use the PPG

test as part of her precommitment evaluations nor does any other psychologist at the Department of Mental Health because the test is not standardized, meaning it is “given differently by different people” which “makes the results unreliable.” R. 10, l. 25 – 11, l. 12. She testified that in psychology, experts typically use standardized testing. The “hallmark of standardized testing is the IQ test.” R. 11, ll. 18-22. Dr. Gehle asserted:

It has an instruction book. It has a scoring manual. . . . Everybody is trained to give it the exact same way. Everybody is trained to score it the exact same way. There is not a lot of interpretation there. That way I know if I give . . . an IQ test I can compare it to somebody else who gave the same IQ test and I’ll know that they gave it the same way and I’ll know that the results are comparable. When you take away that standardization you don’t know how, how this person gave the test. And in terms of the PPG . . . everybody uses different stimulus sets. The stimulus sets are the things that they’re showing the person to [elicit] sexual arousal. Those vary from site to site. People use different stimulus sets. And there is no research on the stimulus set that is used at MUSC, the real child voices, to show that it’s [a] valid, reliable assessment. So we don’t know if when they say that they’re measuring pedophilic arousal if they’re actually measuring pedophilic arousal. We don’t know if they, when they say they’re measuring exhibitionistic arousal if they’re actually measuring that because it’s not been proven in research. [There is no] public research on that stimulus set. So it’s similar to if I decided to give an IQ test, but I’m gonna make up my [own] words, I’m gonna make up my own, I don’t know, portions of the test to give to somebody but then I’m gonna say it’s an IQ test because it looks similar to other IQ tests. It’s just not the way it works in psychology.

R. 11, l. 22 – 13, l. 8.

Dr. Gehle further explained that one of the “primary types of reliability is test/retest. So if I give the test on one day, can I come back later and get a similar result with the same test.”

R. 14, ll. 8-13. She asserted that the “test/retest reliability” of the PPG is “very poor.” R. 14, ll. 8-17.

Moreover, Gehle testified that one of the stimulus sets used by MUSC to measure arousal, called “real child voices,” was developed by Dr. William Burke. R. 15, ll. 3-15. It includes “auditory scenarios followed by some pictures.” The auditory scenario and pictures

relate to the category of arousal the psychologist is attempting to measure. For example, if the psychologist is attempting to measure pedophilic arousal, the auditory scenario may be an interaction between an adult male and a real child actor, followed by a picture of a fully clothed female child. R. 15, l. 19 – 16, l. 12. Dr. Gehle asserted that to her knowledge, there have been no peer reviewed studies on the real child voices stimulus set. R. 17, ll. 14-16. Peer reviewed studies are important because such studies would show whether the set is reliable and valid. Gehle explained that “reliability is how a test is used . . . over time so can you give the same test and get similar results” while “validity is whether you are measuring what you say you’re measuring, what you think you’re measuring.” R. 17, l. 18 – 18, l. 3.

One of the few books that have been written about conducting sexually violent predator evaluations is Evaluations of Sexually Violent Predators, Best Practices by Phillip Whitt and Mary Alice Conroy. The book contains recommendations from experts in the field about how to conduct such evaluations. R. 18, l. 19 – 19, l. 23. Dr. Gehle explained that the authors recommend against the use of PPG testing in SVP precommitment evaluations because the reliability and validity of such testing cannot be established given that the test is not standardized. R. 21, ll. 4-16.

Lastly, Dr. Gehle testified that the PPG is often used during treatment for sex offenders. Its purpose in therapy is to “start a conversation with the offender about their arousal.” R. 20, l. 5 – 21, l. 1. Whereas, during an evaluation, the purpose of the PPG is to diagnose an offender or measure risk assessment. R. 19, l. 24 – 20, l. 4. Gehle asserted that “the stakes are very different” in a therapy setting as opposed to a precommitment evaluation. R. 20, ll. 8-17.

In response to Appellant’s motion, the state proffered the testimony of Dr. Emily Gottfried, the director of the Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab at MUSC. Dr. Gottfried manages

the contract MUSC has with the Attorney General's Office to conduct precommitment evaluations pursuant to the SVPA. R. 31, l. 25 – 32, l. 13. She has completed seventeen precommitment evaluations and is in the process of conducting an additional five. R. 35, ll. 13-17. Gottfried orders a PPG be conducted on all adult men who are referred to the lab for evaluation. R. 34, ll. 5-6.

Gottfried maintained that the Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab is “certified by Limestone Technologies as a clinical and research laboratory” and she is a “Limestone Technology Certified Clinical Analyst.” R. 36, ll. 10-24. Gottfried later clarified that Limestone Technologies is merely a company that developed the hardware and software used by some psychologists to conduct PPGs. R. 36, ll. 16-20. The Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab is not certified by “any independent agency” nor are any of the analysts, including Gottfried. R. 59, ll. 6-21.

Gottfried has written twenty-six peer reviewed articles. One of those articles concerns the PPG. The article compares the differences and similarities between the use of the PPG in Canada, the United States, and the United Kingdom. R. 33, ll. 12-17. She is also “working on a couple of studies” concerning the validity and reliability of the real child voices stimulus set, which Gottfried used during the PPG test conducted on Appellant. However, none of those studies have been peer reviewed. R. 56, ll. 12-16. Gottfried maintained that her current study, again which has not been peer reviewed, “found that the results of the Marshall [stimulus set] and RCV [real child voices stimulus set] were really consistent with one another. We also found that the RCV were more likely to be valid. So *if somebody is going to have a valid test it was more likely to be the RCV than the Marshall.*” R. 56, l. 22 – 58, l. 8 (emphasis added).

Dr. Gottfried admitted there is no way to verify “false/positives” with the PPG, which is why she only uses the PPG results “as one data point” in reaching her final conclusion. R. 62, l.

22 – 63, l. 12. She also uses “a very conservative cut off score.” R. 63, ll. 1-2. She explained, “So the cut score is how you can tell if a test is clinically significant arousal or not. So it is a valid test? So is there millimeter of change from the baseline where they started, flaccid penis. You want it to be over a particular cut score millimeters of change before you say, like, okay that is arousal.” R. 63, ll. 13-19. Gottfried testified that the “literature” recommends doing at least ten percent of a full erection which would be 2.5 mm.” Her lab uses 5 mm. Her “colleagues in Canada use 1 mm.” However, Gottfried emphasized that Canada does not have a sexually violent predator act so psychologists there use the PPG only for treatment. R. 63, ll. 20-25; R. 64, ll. 8-13.

After the proffer, Appellant’s counsel argued that while there may be studies about the use of the PPG test, there have been no peer reviewed articles about the reliability and validity of the real child voices stimulus set which was used as part of the PPG conducted on Appellant. R. 64, l. 21 – 65, l. 1. He also asserted that being certified by the manufacturer is different than being certified by an independent agency. Specifically, he stated, “I mean, the guy who invented the equipment . . . said yeah you’re using [it] the way I want it used.” R. 65, ll. 5-10. Counsel concluded that any testimony concerning the use of the PPG and its results should be excluded because the evidence is not reliable or valid, particularly when used in a high stakes evaluation like in this case. R. 65, ll. 10-14.

The trial judge found the evidence was admissible. He asserted, “Mr. Falk [Appellant’s counsel], I certainly understand your concern about the results of the test, but in this particular case I’m going to find that the relevance outweighs, the probative value outweighs the prejudice so I’m going to allow the PPG test results to come in by way of your witness, Ms. Shaw [the assistant attorney general].” R. 69, ll. 14-19.

Before Dr. Gottfried testified about the PPG in front of the jury, Appellant renewed his objection. The judge again overruled the objection. R. 134, ll. 1-17.

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