**RECEIVED**

**Feb 22 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Florence County  
The Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2021-000734

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT  
OF ANDY EUGENE HYMAN,

APPELLANT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**Judge Henderson did not abuse his discretion in admitting evidence regarding a penile plethysmograph performed by the State's expert which she used in formulating her opinion, because the evidence established penile plethysmography is recognized and accepted in the field of sex offender evaluation and treatment as a reliable, objective measure of deviant sexual interests.**

Appellant contends Judge Henderson erred in admitting Dr. Gottfried's testimony regarding the PPG test conducted as part of her comprehensive psychosexual evaluation of Appellant's mental status and risk to reoffend, asserting there was no evidence the PPG test is reliable, and its admission was more prejudicial than probative. As support, Appellant primarily relies on dicta from In re Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 851 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2020), while ignoring virtually undisputed evidence before Judge Henderson regarding the research and acceptance of the PPG test. He also presents an extremely truncated and misleading summation of Dr. Gottfried's testimony.

In considering the admissibility of scientific evidence, the court looks at several factors, including: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813, 819 (2001). This type of evidence is also subject to attack for relevancy and prejudice, and once the evidence is admitted, the jury may give it such weight as it deems appropriate. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508, 517-518 (1999).

### **A. PPG Testing Reliability**

In this case, Judge Henderson heard extensive testimony regarding competing expert views of PPG testing reliability. Dr. Gehle testified she read articles about PPG test standardization

issues, and cited a “best practices” book published in 2009, which recommended against using PPG tests in pre-commitment sexually violent predator evaluations. She stated the PPG test is used in treatment, but differentiated treatment use from sexual predator evaluations because of the possible outcomes. She testified there was no “research on the stimulus sets used at MUSC, specifically the RCV, showing it is a reliable assessment of pedophilic arousal.” (TT, pp. 103-115; R., pp. 10-22).

On cross-examination, Dr. Gehle admitted the 2009 “best practices” book she cited had not been updated since 2009, and stated she was unaware of any developments in standardizing the RCV and Marshall stimulus sets. She further admitted she had no actual training or experience in administering PPG tests or interpreting PPG test results, she had never seen a PPG test performed, and she was “not aware” there was a protocol and standard procedure for administering the test. Dr. Gehle also admitted she was unaware of the 2019 meta-analysis of multiple studies involving thousands of PPG tests, even stating she did not “actually know what [State’s counsel was] talking about.” She testified she heard the PPG test stimulus sets “once,” but it had been “too long” ago for her to state what a particular scenario described. (TT, pp. 115-122; R., pp.22-29). In short, Dr. Gehle’s knowledge regarding the PPG test was extremely limited.<sup>2</sup>

By comparison, Dr. Gottfried testified extensively regarding the use and reliability of PPG testing, including her first-hand training and experience, multiple research studies and publications

---

<sup>2</sup>Appellant’s reliance on Dr. Gehle’s testimony and Bilton as support for excluding the PPG test evidence in this case is interesting. In Bilton, this Court held the State’s expert was not qualified to testify about the PPG test because she possessed only a basic familiarity with the PPG test and how it is performed, had never seen one performed, and was not familiar with the stimulus sets and machine. 851 S.E.2d at 445. If the Bilton court found the expert’s qualification and experience with the PPG test was insufficient to establish basic reliability, Dr. Gehle’s utter lack of qualification and experience with the PPG test patently renders her testimony insufficient to establish the PPG test is not reliable, especially when compared with Dr. Gottfried’s extensive knowledge and first-hand experience with conducting and interpreting PPG tests.

regarding the reliability of the PPG test, the DSM-5 reference to the PPG test, and Dr. Gottfried's active participation in on-going national and international studies and scientific presentations regarding PPG testing in general and the RCV stimulus set in particular. She testified in depth regarding the SBCL protocols and quality control procedures used in every PPG test the lab conducts.<sup>3</sup> She stated the PPG test research has been increasing, and a 2019 "best practices" book specifically about sexually violent predator evaluations includes a chapter discussing the utility of PPG testing in such evaluations.

Notwithstanding the Bilton dicta claiming near uniformity of other jurisdictions excluding the PPG test, courts, including South Carolina circuit courts, have recognized the general acceptance and admissibility of the PPG test in sexually violent predator cases.<sup>4</sup> In In re Detention of Halgren, 156 Wash. 2d, 132 P.3d 714 (2006), the Washington Supreme Court found PPG test results were admissible as part of the diagnostic process, and the PPG test testimony would assist the jury in understanding the expert's sexual deviancy diagnosis.<sup>5</sup> *Id.* at 719. The court further found the issue of the PPG test's reliability goes to the weight of the evidence rather than its

---

<sup>3</sup>In his Statement of Facts, Appellant discounts the training and protocols established by Limestone and utilized at MUSC because Limestone "is merely a company that developed the hardware and software used by some psychologists to conduct PPG tests," and no "independent agency" certifies the labs or analysts. (Brief of Appellant, p. 11). It is simply inaccurate to claim no independent agency has evaluated Limestone's system. As discussed below, federal government agencies and private insurance companies have evaluated the Limestone system and approved it as a valid medical test. Once the system was approved, who better than the company that developed it to train people how to use it?

<sup>4</sup>In addition to the instant case, PPG test evidence was admitted in In re Ronald MJ Gregg, 2018-CP-10-03472 (Jefferson, J.)(*rev'd* August 10, 2022; Petition for Writ of Certiorari filed December 7, 2022); In re Shawn Torlif Daily, 2019-CP-42-03230 (Kelly, J.) (appeal pending); In re James Lewis Williford, 2019-CP-04-01380 (Sprouse, J.) (appeal pending).

<sup>5</sup>Significantly, Washington's sexual predator statute expressly gives the courts the discretion to order the person to comply with a PPG test if requested by the evaluator. RCW §71.09.050(1). Thus, the Washington legislature recognized the PPG test is a valuable tool that should be available to evaluators if they believe it is necessary.

admissibility.<sup>6</sup> *Id.*; *see also* In re Detention of Herrick, 198 Wash. App. 439, 393 P.3d 879, 885 (2017) (PPG testing may provide critical information to an evaluator in determining if alleged sexual predator has a mental abnormality, and PPG testing is an effective and generally accepted method for evaluating sex offenders).

The Illinois appellate court found PPG test evidence was admissible in In re Commitment of Sandry, 367 Ill.App.3d 949, 858 N.E.2d 295 (2006). As to the admissibility of a particular test or methodology, the court stated: “once it is determined that a methodology is generally accepted, it follows that it has achieved a sufficient degree of reliability and validity to cross the threshold of admissibility.” *Id.* at 309. The court then engaged in an exhaustive analysis of case law [use of PPG mentioned in at least 21 states, including South Carolina], statutes [eleven state statutes] and regulations. *Id.* at 310-313.

The court also discussed numerous academic articles, which it determined provided ample support “to conclude that PPG testing is accepted by a substantial number of experts in this field such that it may be used to support a qualitative assessment of the future dangerousness of an individual.” *Id.* at 309-316 (emphasis added). Acknowledging some experts have criticized and rejected PPG testing, the court noted the existence of contrary authority is not dispositive because many people could disagree on the acceptance of any given methodology, but those who accept it may still constitute a significant subset of experts in any given field. *Id.* at 316; *see also* State v. Graham, 275 Kan. 176, 183, 61 P.3d 662, 667 (2003) (some disagreement in the scientific and medical community as to the reliability of a particular test method is a matter affecting the weight

---

<sup>6</sup>The Bilton court dismissed Halgren as distinguishable because the Washington court found the PPG test was not novel and subject to the test for scientific evidence. This ignored the reason for the Washington court’s finding was that the PPG test had been analyzed in a previous case and found to be an effective method for assessing and treating sex offenders. 132 P.3d at 719.

of such evidence and not its admissibility; such evidence is admissible if a qualified expert witness testifies the particular test method is reliable and accurate, and it is generally accepted as such by other experts in the field).

The Bilton court distinguished Sandry on the premise that “Illinois courts do not examine reliability before scientific evidence is admitted,” and did not even address all the case law and research articles discussed in Sandry. 432 S.E.2d at 446. The court’s conclusion that Illinois courts do not examine reliability ignored a very significant part of the Sandry opinion, which analyzed Illinois case law expressly stating “[t]he determination of the reliability of an expert’s methodology is naturally subsumed by the inquiry into its general acceptance in the scientific community.” 857 N.E.2d at 308 (*quoting Donaldson v. Central Illinois Public Service Co.*, 767 N.E.2d 314 [2002])(emphasis added). Thus, in examining whether the PPG test is generally accepted in the scientific community, the Sandry court necessarily considered “reliability,” and its discussion of evidence indicating the PPG test is reliable and generally accepted is directly relevant here.<sup>7</sup>

There is ample evidence the PPG test is generally accepted. The PPG test “is a widely recognized means of measuring male sexual arousal to given stimuli,” and “has become a standard objective measure of arousal and is considered by some researchers and clinicians to be essential in the assessment and treatment of male sex offenders and men with paraphilic interests.” Murphy, *L., et. al.*, Standardization of Penile Plethysmography in Assessment of Problematic Sexual

---

<sup>7</sup>The Bilton court cited to a concurring opinion in United States v. Weber, 451 F.3d 552 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006) for the proposition that the PPG test is “Orwellian when, **as here**, the State compels the subject to arouse himself sexually and then forces him to view deviant stimulants.” 851 S.E.2d at 444 (emphasis added). This statement is misleading. There was no evidence in Bilton, and there is no evidence in this case, that MUSC requires the person to “arouse himself sexually” before beginning the test. Dr. Gottfried testified about the protocols MUSC follows in every PPG test, which do not include any masturbation requirement.

Interests, J. Sex. Med. 12(9): 1853-1861 (2015); *see also* Murphy, L., *et. al.*, Assessment of Problematic Sexual Interests with the Penile Plethysmograph: an Overview of Assessment Laboratories, Current Psychiatry Reports 17(5):567 (2015) (PPG test “is an objective assessment of sexual arousal based on the change in penis circumference and volume due to increased vasocongestion in the penis”); Howes R. J. & Howes, S. E., Sexual Arousal as a Function of Stimulus Mode: Implications for Phallometric Assessment, J. Forensic Res. 8(6):398 (2017) (PPG test is “[p]erhaps the best means of objectively measuring deviant sexual interest”). While controversy regarding PPG testing remains, as the Sandry court noted, the existence of contrary authority is not dispositive.<sup>8</sup>

In addition to numerous studies and articles indicating the PPG test is reliable and generally accepted, the PPG test has undergone Federal Drug Administration (FDA) review, and the FDA has approved several PPG systems, including the Limestone system used in this case.<sup>9</sup> In addition, the Medicaid/Medicare regulations provide coverage for PPG tests.<sup>10</sup> Major insurance companies, such as Blue Cross Blue Shield, also recognize the PPG test as a medical procedure, and either provide limited coverage or exclude it from coverage.<sup>11</sup> The federal government’s and insurance companies’ recognition of the PPG test as a valid medical procedure amply demonstrates its general acceptance in the health care community.

---

<sup>8</sup>Indeed, DNA evidence has been widely accepted for years, but its admission is still challenged. *See State v. Phillips*, 430 S.C. 319, 844 S.E.2d 651 (2020) (evidence regarding “touch DNA” was inadmissible).

<sup>9</sup>*See* [https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh\\_docs/pdf5/K052929.pdf](https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh_docs/pdf5/K052929.pdf) (501(k) Summary – Limestone Technologies, Inc.)

<sup>10</sup>*See* Federal Register Volume 72, Number 61, Addendum III and Addendum V (Friday, March 30, 2007) (<https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2007-03-30/html/07-1414.htm>).

<sup>11</sup>The PPG test is not just utilized in psychosexual evaluations and/or treatment, but used in general medical health care as well. *See* Blue Cross Blue Shield of Texas, Treatment of Male Sexual Dysfunction, Special Comment on Contract Exclusions (January 7, 2003) (<https://www.bcbstx.com/provider/pdf/medicalpolicies/surgery/717-010.pdf>).

As Dr. Gottfried testified, further evidence of the PPG test's general acceptance in the mental health community is the reference to it in the DSM-5, which provides:

Psychophysiological measures of sexual interest may sometimes be useful when an individual's history suggest the possible presence of pedophilic disorder but the individual denies strong or preferential attraction to children. **The most thoroughly researched and longest used of such measures is penile plethysmography**, although sensitivity and specificity of diagnosis may vary from one site to another.

DSM-5-R 698 (emphasis added). While previous DSM versions did not recognize the PPG test at all, by the time the DSM-5 was published in 2013, there was sufficient research indicating the PPG test's validity as a tool to measure an individual's sexual interest.<sup>12</sup>

In psychosexual behavior evaluations, the PPG test provides data useful in determining an individual's level of risk to commit acts of sexual aggression by measuring the extent to which the individual is dominated by sexual arousal to deviant stimuli, and predictions of risk to re-offend "are rendered much more accurate by the inclusion of data from this technique." Howes, R. J., Measurement of Risk of Sexual Violence Through Phallometric Testing, *Legal Medicine* 11:368-369 (2009). "Although not universally embraced, there nonetheless remains widespread acceptance and recognition of the value of phallometric assessment," and it "is certainly an assessment procedure which has come a long way since it was first devised." Howes & Howes, *supra* (emphasis added). See also Dean Tong, The Penile Plethysmograph, Abel Assessment for Sexual Interest, and MSI-II: Are They Speaking the Same Language?, 35 *Am. J. of Fam. Therapy*, 187, 190 (2007) ("The PPG, when administered properly, represents a direct and objective

---

<sup>12</sup>Published in February 2022, the DSM-5-TR contains the same language on page 795, but adds that sites "frequently use different stimuli, procedures and scoring." As discussed above, however, the Limestone system used by MUSC has standardized protocols and procedures utilized in between fifty and one hundred labs across the country and internationally, and to minimize the possibility of false positive results, MUSC intentionally uses a cut score double the minimum cut score recommended in the research literature.

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